ONT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 75,181

FOURTH DCA

CASE NO. 85-1.995

FLA. BAR. NO.: 338788

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I, WHETHER THE PLAINTIFF IN A WRONGFUL DISCHARGE ACTION PURSUANT TO SECTION 440.205 IS ENTITLED TO RECOVER DAMAGES FOR EMOTIONAL DISTRESS?
- II, WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT UNDER <u>BINGER V. KING PEST CONTROL</u>, **401** So. **2d 1310** (Fla. **1981)** IN EXCLUDING THE TESTIMONY OF WILLIE FERGUSON?
- III, WHETHER REINSTATEMENT IS NOT AN AVAILABLE REMEDY IN A WRONGFUL DISCHARGE CASE UNDER SECTION 440.205 AND THEREFORE DAMAGES FOR FUTURE LOST WAGES ARE AVAILABLE?
- IV. WHETHER THE PLAINTIFF IN A WRONGFUL DISCHARGE CASE IS ENTITLED TO PREJUDGMENT INTEREST ON A PAST LOST WAGES AWARD?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal by the Plaintiff, WILLIAM SCOTT, from a decision and order on rehearing of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in this wrongful discharge action brought against Defendant OTIS ELEVATOR COMPANY pursuant to 440.205, Fla. Stat. (1979). Pursuant to a question certified to be of great public importance by the Fourth District, this Court accepted jurisdiction herein. In this brief, the parties will be referred to by name or as the Plaintiff and Defendant. References to the record on appeal will be by (R. 1-913) and references to the Appendix will be by (A. 1-3). Any emphasis appearing in this brief is that of the writer unless otherwise indicated.

The Plaintiff, WILLIAM SCOTT, filed an action against his employer, Defendant OTIS ELEVATOR COMPANY (hereinafter OTIS), alleging his wrongful discharge in retaliation for MR. SCOTT'S filing of a workers' compensation claim in violation of Fla. Stat. sec. 440.205. As part of the damages sought in the complaint, SCOTT claimed recompense for his lost past and future wages and "loss of morale, confidence and self-esteem, humiliation and loss of reputation among his friends and fellow co-workers" (R. 674). OTIS filed an answer to the complaint denying all material allegations and, in pertinent part, raised as a defense that MR. SCOTT had been discharged as the result of an altercation at the job site between himself and another construction worker (R. 692, 727).

At trial, the jury returned a verdict in favor of MR. SCOTT

and assessed damages of \$100,000.00 for past lost wages and benefits and \$200,000.00 for future lost wages and benefits (R. 591-592). OTIS' motion for judgment in accordance with motion for directed verdict, motion for new trial and motion for remittitur were denied (R. 833-835, 853-894, 898).

On appeal to the Fourth District, that court reversed the judgment in favor of SCOTT finding that a cause of action for wrongful discharge under Section 440.205 was subject to the two year statute of limitations contained within Fla. Stat. Section 95.11 (c) governing claims for lost past and future wages. SCOTT, based upon a certified question, then appealed to this Court. This Court quashed the decision of the Fourth District, Scott v. Otis Elevator Company, 524 So. 2d 642 (Fla. 1988), and remanded this case back to the Fourth District for consideration of the other issues raised by the appeal and cross appeal.

Upon remand the Fourth DCA again reversed the judgment in favor of SCOTT and remanded the action for a new trial. Otis

Elevator v. Scott, 14 F.L.W. 615 (Fla. 4th DCA March 8, 1989),

rehearing denied, 14 F.L.W. 2566 (Fla. 4th DCA November 8,

1989). The Fourth DCA held that SCOTT had failed to establish that his loss of future wages was the result of his wrongful discharge; and that the trial court had abused its discretion in excluding the testimony of a witness offered by OTIS. As to the cross appeal filed by SCOTT, the Fourth District determined that the trial court had not erred in failing to award prejudgment interest on SCOTT'S past lost wages award because SCOTT had not requested it and that the trial court was correct in refusing to

instruct the jury on damages for mental pain and suffering and humiliation (A. 1).

On rehearing, the district court denied all motions except SCOTT'S request for certification. The district court certified to this Court as a question of great public importance the following question:

ARE DAMAGES FOR EMOTIONAL DISTRESS AVAILABLE TO THE PLAINTIFF IN AN ACTION FOR WRONGFUL DISCHARGE PURSUANT TO SECTION 440.205, FLORIDA STATUTES? (A. 2-3).

SCOTT sought review of the certified question, and this Court accepted jurisdiction, Art. V, Sec. 3 (b) (4), Fla. Const.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Since MR. SCOTT was the prevailing party pursuant to a jury verdict entered in his favor, the following facts and all reasonable inferences arising therefrom are construed in his favor:

MR. SCOTT worked for OTIS ELEVATOR for 19 1/2 years as an elevator mechanic/foreman (R. 229). At the time of his discharge, MR. SCOTT was a foreman with OTIS, the highest official on the job site on a day to day basis (R. 270). On September 12, 1980 MR. SCOTT tripped and fell over a pile of debris when he got out of an elevator on a job site which was located at the construction site of the Burdines Department Store at Galleria Mall in Broward County, Florida (R. 124-125, 253).

MR. SCOTT called J.D. Mitchell, the construction superintendent for OTIS, to tell him about his fall but Mitchell

was out Of the office. Therefore Mr. Scott told Mitchell about his fall the following week when Mitchell came to the job site (R. 272). Mitchell testified that when he saw MR. SCOTT the next week he was limping and using a cane (R. 131-132).

Then on September 19, 1980 the police were called to the OTIS work site by a workman for another company who told the police that MR. SCOTT had assaulted him with a gun. MR. SCOTT denied all knowledge of the incident (R. 387). MR. SCOTT testified that the man who made the complaint was a friend of his ex-wife and that both the complainant and his wife, who was a Fort Lauderdale Police Department dispatcher, came to the site with the police (R. 307-308).

MR. SCOTT had never been arrested prior to this incident (R. 349). The police did not find a weapon on MR. SCOTT or in his son's vehicle (R. 390). The investigating officer testified that he did not find any bullets matching the rifle supposedly in MR. SCOTT'S possession (R. 391). MR. SCOTT was subsequently prosecuted for assault and pled nolo contendre to the charge (R. 392, 415).

When MR. SCOTT returned to work the day following the alleged gun incident, Mitchell told him to take a few weeks off without pay (R. 257, 312-314). An OTIS employee testified that after the alleged gun incident the Vice President of Burdines requested that MR. SCOTT not be allowed to work on the Burdines' job in the future (R. 316, 369-371).

On September 25, 1980 MR. SCOTT was advised by Mitchell that his employment was being terminated. MR. SCOTT'S personnel

file stated that the reasons for his termination were "conduct, absenteeism, tardiness and customer complaints" (R. 510).

On the day MR. SCOTT was terminated by Mitchell, SCOTT gave an insurance form to Mitchell in Mitchell's office. This form was for an insurance disability policy on MR. SCOTT'S home which would cover his monthly mortgage payments in case he got sick or hurt (R. 533). It was after MR. SCOTT handed this form to Mitchell that Mitchell took SCOTT outside and told him in the parking lot that he was terminated (R. 529).

Although Mitchell testified at trial that he fired MR.

SCOTT because of customer complaints, absenteeism and tardiness, there were no customer complaints documented in the OTIS personnel file on MR. SCOTT, only on the termination notice which was completed after MR. SCOTT'S termination (R. 127).

Moreover, Mitchell testified that he was aware that MR. SCOTT had injured himself in mid or early September but did not make any notation of it in his file (R. 124-125). Nevertheless, on the notice of injury form which was completed by OTIS, Mitchell made a notation that he was "unaware of injury" (Plaintiff's Exhibit 1).

Mitchell admitted that the only reference in MR. SCOTT'S employment file as to why he was terminated was on his payroll notice where it stated that "conduct, absenteeism, tardiness and customer complaints" resulted in his discharge (R. 510).

Mitchell testified that the "conduct" referred to in the termination notice concerned the alleged gun incident at Burdines (R. 511); "absenteeism" referred to one letter written

in August of 1980, one month before MR. SCOTT was terminated, when Mitchell went to the job site and waited for MR. SCOTT and SCOTT arrived approximately one half to two hours late (R. 512). Mitchell conceded as to this incident that MR. SCOTT was late because he had been to a hardware store to pick up materials for the job site (R. 512).

"Tardiness" Mitchell said again referred to the August 1980 incident (R. 513). Mitchell also referred to an incident where MR. SCOTT was working two jobs at the same time and the owners (Saks Fifth Avenue) at one site complained because he wasn't on the job site more (R. 510). Mitchell testified that "customer complaints" referred to the alleged gun incident at Burdines, a complaint by a customer that MR. SCOTT had charged for transporting materials at the job site; and the incident at Saks Fifth Avenue (R. 513). However, Mitchell testified that the primary reason for SCOTT'S discharge was the gun incident (R. 513).

Mitchell also conceded at trial that some of the allegations made against MR. SCOTT, even though related to the reasons for his discharge, were unfounded (R. 522). Mitchell admitted that he had considered the Saks incident in firing MR. SCOTT even though MR. SCOTT was working two jobs and Mitchell attributed his absence at the Saks job site to the fact that he was supervising two separate jobs (R. 523).

The evidence showed that OTIS has an in-house form for on the job accidents which is to be filled out by the injured employee prior to their return to work (R. 526). It was

Mitchell's responsibility to file the workers' compensation notice of injury form (R. 526-527). Mitchell conceded at trial that he was aware of the state law requiring every accident, no matter how slight, to be reported to the State within ten days (R. 527).

Although Mitchell admitted that MR. **SCOTT** informed him that he had fallen on a pile of debris and hurt his knee and that MR. **SCOTT** was limping and using a cane after the fall, Mitchell testified that this fact did not indicate to him that MR. **SCOTT** had been injured in an accident (R. **527-528**). However, MR. **SCOTT** showed Mitchell his swollen knee and elbow (R. **273**).

MR. SCOTT testified that in the 19 1/2 years in which he had been employed by OTIS no one from OTIS had ever complained to him about his work nor did they ever tell him that they had received customer complaints about him (R. 244). In fact, MR. SCOTT testified that OTIS employees told him that Burdines had requested that he do all of their jobs (R. 244). MR. SCOTT also testified that after he went to OTIS' offices and filled out the forms to obtain medical treatment, he was released from the doctor's care and was told he could return to work. However, when MR. SCOTT called OTIS he was told that OTIS did not have any escalator work available at that time (R. 256).

MR. SCOTT did not go to a doctor on the day he told

Mitchell about his injury because he did not feel he could take

off the time from work (R. 275). MR. SCOTT testified that he

did not file a compensation claim at the time he was injured

because he knew OTIS' attitude about it and "did not want to be

a party of it" (R. 255).

MR. SCOTT stated that when he was told by Mitchell to take a couple of weeks off after the Burdines' incident that Mitchell did not give him any specific reason for this but MR. SCOTT felt that it was probably because of his injury (R. 277-278). MR. SCOTT felt his accident had a "great deal" to do with his termination (R. 329). Further, MR. SCOTT believed that the OTIS employee who completed his accident report was fired (R. 330).

At the time Mitchell terminated SCOTT, Mitchell admitted that SCOTT was walking with a cane (R. 508-509). In addition, Mitchell conceded that on the day he fired SCOTT, SCOTT had called him and asked him to fill out a disability insurance mortgage form for him (R. 503). Mitchell also admitted that he had seen MR. SCOTT twice between the time he was injured and the time he was terminated and that SCOTT was limping and using a cane both times (R, 132).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

SCOTT seeks a determination by this Court of whether he should have been allowed to present evidence of his claim for emotional distress arising from his wrongful discharge. Since this claim is an intentional tort under Florida law, damages for emotional distress are clearly available.

Secondly, Plaintiff claims error by the district court in its determination that the trial court erroneously excluded a witness pursuant to <u>Binger v. King Pest Control</u>, 401 So. 2d 1310 (Fla. 1981). Further, the DCA erred in determining that reinstatement was available to Plaintiff in this case and reversing SCOTT'S damages for future lost wages. Finally, Plaintiff seeks a determination by this Court that he is entitled to prejudgment interest on his past lost wages award as a matter of law under <u>Argonaut Insurance Co. v. May Plumbing</u> Co., 474 So. 2d 212 (Fla. 1985).

POINT I

[Certified Question]

THE PLAINTIFF IN A WRONGFUL DISCHARGE ACTION PURSUANT TO SECTION 440.205 IS ENTITLED TO RECOVER DAMAGES FOR EMOTIONAL DISTRESS.

The trial court ruled that SCOTT could not recover for emotional distress arising from his wrongful termination (R. 220-221). On appeal, the Fourth DCA affirmed this ruling but certified the question to this Court of whether emotional distress damages are available to the plaintiff in a wrongful discharge case under Section 440.205.

This Court has already stated that a wrongful discharge claim under 440.205 is "tortious in nature". Scott v. Otis

Elevator Company, 524 So. 2d 642, 643 (Fla. 1988). In fact, this Court recognized in its prior decision herein that states adopting this tort consider it an intentional act and not negligience and have therefore permitted recovery of damages for emotional distress as well as punitive damages. SCOTT at 643.

In other intentional tort cases damages for mental pain and suffering have been allowed since the wrongful act implies malice. Kirksey v. Jerniqan, 45 So. 2d 188 (Fla. 1950). For example, in malicious prosecution and false imprisonment actions, the jury is instructed that it may award the plaintiff damages for injury to reputation or health, and any damages for shame, humiliation, mental anguish and hurt feelings arising from the defendant's conduct. See, Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Civ.)

in a claim for legal malpractice. <u>Freeman v. Rubin</u>, 318 So. 2d 540 (Fla. **d** DCA 1975).

However, most enlightening are those out of state cases which have considered this issue. Most notably, the Washington Supreme Court in Caqle v. Burns and Roe, Inc., 726 P. 2d 434 (Wash. 1986) (en banc) and the New Mexico Supreme Court in Chavez w Manville Products Corporation, 108 N.M. 643, 777 P. 2d 371 (1989) held that the plaintiff in a wrongful discharge case could recover damages for emotional distress. Both of these state Supreme Courts concluded that since an action for wrongful discharge is a violation of public policy and is premised upon tort principles, damages available in tort should be utilized. Caqle, 726 P. 2d at 436; Chavez, 777 P 2d at 377. [Also see the dissent of Judge Anstead from the Fourth DCA citing Caqle contained in the opinion on rehearing (A. 2-3).]

As the Washington Supreme Court noted in <u>Caqle</u>, the clear majority of jurisdictions that recognize a cause of action for wrongful discharge also allow recovery of damages for emotional distress as part of the plaintiff's compensatory damages.

<u>Caqle</u>, 726 P. 2d at 437. In fact, the <u>Caqle</u> court noted that there is only one decision where the plaintiff was denied damages for emotional distress arising from a wrongful discharge. <u>Caqle</u> at 437, n.2 <u>citing Vigil v. Arzola</u>, 102 N.M. 682, 699 P. 2d 613 (N.M. Ct. App. 1983). Interestingly, <u>Vigil</u> has been overruled by the New Mexico Supreme Court in <u>Chavez</u> to the extent that it did not permit recovery of damages for emotional distress. <u>Chavez</u>, 777 P. 2d at 378.

The West Virginia Supreme Court in the case of Harless v. First Nat'l. Bank in Fairmont, 289 S.E. 2d 692 (W. Va. 1982) stated that since it had found that a cause of action for retalitatory discharge was a tort, it must utilize West Virginia's tort damages law in determining the extent of recovery. Harless, 289 S.E. 2d at 701. The court pointed out that emotional distress recovery was previously permitted where the underlying claim involved an intentional tort. These intentional, "traditional non-physical torts' include malicious prosecution, false imprisonment, and libel and slander. Id. The court in Harless held that the tort of wrongful discharge carries with it sufficient indicia of intent such that emotional distress damages should be recoverable. Harless at 702.

For these reasons this Court, in line with the overwhelming majority of jurisdictions that have considered this issue, should hold that damages for emotional distress are available to the plaintiff in a wrongful discharge case under Section 440.205 and quash the decision of the Fourth District with directions that the case be reversed and remanded so that Plaintiff's claim for emotional distress may be presented to the jury.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT UNDER BINGER <u>v. KING PEST CONTROL</u>, 401 So. 2d 1310 (Fla. 1981) IN EXCLUDING **THE TESTIMONY** OF WILLIE FERGUSON.

Since this Court has jurisdiction, it can and should consider the merits of the issues raised by Plaintiff's cross-appeal in the interests of judicial time and economy. Tillman

<u>v.</u> <u>State</u>, 471 So. 2d 32, 34 (Fla. 1985); <u>Trushin</u> <u>v.</u> <u>State</u>, 425 So. 2d 1126, 1130 (Fla. 1982).

The trial court in this case in determining whether the contested witness (Ferguson) would be allowed to testify undertook a <u>Binger</u> analysis. In <u>Binger</u>, this Court stated that the question of whether to allow the testimony of undisclosed witnesses is within the <u>broad discretion</u> of the trial court.

<u>Binger</u> at 1313. Accordingly, an appellate court may reverse only upon a "clear showing of abuse prejudicial to the affected party" (citations omitted). <u>Binger</u> at 1313. The trial court's discretion to exclude a witness is guided by the resulting prejudice to the objecting party. <u>Binger</u> at 1314. Prejudice refers to surprise in fact of the objecting party and is not dependent on the adverse nature of the testimony. <u>Id.</u>
Compliance with the pre-trial order is necessary in order to avoid "trial by ambush". <u>Binger</u> at 1314.

Binger sets forth several factors which the trial court may consider in determining whether to permit a witness to testify. Those factors are: (1) the objecting party's ability to cure the prejudice or, similarly, his independent knowledge of the existence of the witness; (2) the calling party's possible intentional or bad faith noncompliance with the pre-trial order; and (3) the possible disruption of the trial. Binger at 1314. If the prejudice to the objecting party cannot be alleviated, the witness must be excluded Id.

The essence of Ferguson's testimony (still an employee of OTIS at the time of trial) was that on the day of the alleged

gun incident at the Burdines job site he saw MR. SCOTT with a gun. Further, Ferguson claimed that his helper, Hal Noon, took the gun and put it in his car purportedly to hide it from the police (R. 401). In fact, Ferguson claimed that "the rest of the guys" on the job site (at least 9 others, R. 415) had also seen the gun (R. 401).

Nevertheless, OTIS produced only Ferguson to testify to this fact. Defense counsel admitted to the trial court that he had told Plaintiff's counsel about this witness ten or twelve days prior to trial (R. 406). In response, Plaintiff's counsel explained that he was in trial in another case at the time he was told of this new witness (R. 406). Defense counsel conceded that he was late in notifying SCOTT'S counsel about Ferguson (R. 409).

The information which defense counsel had that indicated that Ferguson was present on the job site the day of the incident was obtained from another case, Scott v. Federated

Department Stores pursuant to a subpoena duces tecum issued by Ronald Solomon, Esq. who was Federated Department Stores' counsel (R. 405-407). The Scott v. Federated case was a personal injury action arising from MR. SCOTT'S injury of September 12, 1980 (R. 411).

The trial court determined from listening to SCOTT'S testimony and the proffered testimony of Ferguson that Plaintiff should have been given the opportunity to subpoena Hal Noon, at the very least, in order to determine the credibility of the statements by Ferguson (R. 417). Defense counsel indicated to

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