017

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

# TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO: 75,181

WILLIAM F. SCOTT,

Petitioner,

VS .

OTIS ELEVATOR COMPANY,

Respondent.

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAR 5 1990 ~

CLERK, SUF A COUR

# BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

MARKSEuthEVAFFerES@reet V Suite 200 Tampa, FL 33606 and EDNA L. CARUSO, P.A.

EDNA L. CARUSO, P.A. Suite 4-B/Barristers Bldg. 1615 Forum Place

West Palm Beach, FL 33401

Tel: (407) 686-8010 Attorneys for Respondent

#

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

Also, ARGONAUT is inapplicable here because ARGONAUT held that where a verdict liquidates damages on a "plaintiff's out-of-pocket pecuniary losses" the plaintiff is entitled as a matter of law to prejudgment interest at the statutory rate from the date of the loss. In this case, Scott's lost wages were not out-of-pocket losses. Scott's contention would mean that

prejudgment interest is awardable on all past lost wages in Florida, which is not the law.

Finally, this issue is most because the Fourth District provided that if Scott prevails on remand, the trial court can then determine prejudgment interest (A8).

## POINT V

#### (RAISED BY THE EMPLOYER)

OTIS WAS ENTITLED TO A DIRECTED VERDICT SINCE THERE WAS NO WRONGFUL DISCHARGE AS A MATTER OF LAW.

No wrongful discharge, as a matter of law, where Scott was arrested on the job for assaulting a co-employer with a gun:

Section 440.205 <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, under which this case was brought, establishes liability for "wrongful discharge" where the employer discharges an employee for seeking workers' compensation benefits. It is Otis' position that under the facts of this case, Scott did not prove a cause of action for wrongful discharge under 1440.205 <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, as a matter of law. The Fourth District correctly found that Scott's evidence was "weak," but incorrectly found that it was sufficient to preclude a directed verdict in Otis' favor (A7).

The <u>undisputed evidence</u> demonstrated that the police were called to Otis' work site (Burdines Galleria), by another workman who advised the police that Scott had assaulted him with a gun. The police could not find a gun on the premises and asked to see Scott's vehicle. Scott showed them to a truck in which the police found bullet casings on the floor board, and a "clip" in the glove compartment that would fit the type weapon the victim had described to them (R388). The police placed Scott in handcuffs and took him

in the patrol car to the police station, where he was arrested (R389). Otis adduced evidence that as a result of this incident, the Vice President of Burdines requested that Scott not work on this job (R316, 369-71).

The <u>undisputed evidence</u> also showed that when Scott returned to work the day following the above incident, his supervisor told him to take a few weeks off, without pay (R257, 312-13). After investigating the gun incident, Scott was advised by Otis that his employment was being terminated because of the incident and the complaints of the Burdines' people, who did not want Scott back on the job (R319, 321). Scott was subsequently prosecuted for the assault (R392), and pled nolo contendere to the charge (R415).

Case law holds that undisputed facts may justify discharge on employee, as a matter of law. ROCHESTER CAPITAL LEASING CORP. v. McCRACKEN, 295 N.E.2d 375 (Ind.App. 1973). And whether the facts are such as to warrant an employer discharging an employee is a question of law for the court, not a question of fact. BERRY v. GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER CO., 242 S.E.2d 551 (S.C. 1978). LA FONTAINE v. DEVELOPERS & BUILDERS, INC., 156 N.W.2d 651 (Iowa 1960); HAIMAN v. GUNDERSHEIMER, 177 So. 199 (Fla. 1937).

In the present case, the undisputed facts were sufficient, as a matter of law, to warrant Otis in terminating Scott. Different inferences cannot be drawn as to whether Otis was justified in terminating Scott. See THOMAS v. BOURDETTE, 608 P.2d 178 (Or.App. 1980). In JOHNSON v. GENERAL MOTORS CORP., 241 S.E.2d 30 (Ga. App. 1977), cert. den., 98 S.Ct. 3092, two employees were arrested and charged with a crime to which they pled nolo contendere. Their employer, General Motors, gave them the option of resigning or being terminated. The employees resigned, and then sued General Motors for wrongful discharge. The trial court granted a summary

judgment in favor of General Motors which was affirmed on appeal, with the court stating:

given, General Motors would have been justified in terms of law to terminate the employment. It was not until three months afterwards that the provisions of the First Offenders Act were invoked. Although the order thereunder eradicated the record of the criminal charges, discharged the appellants without any adjudication of guild, exonerated them of any criminal purpose and intent, and asserted that no civil rights shall be affected, it could not eradicate the facts of arrest and sentencing, and it could not erase their resignations. See MORRIS v. HARTSFIELD, 186 Ga. 171, 197 S.E. 251 (1938).

We find no authority that entry of a plea of nolo contendere to a felony charge cannot be a basis for discharge by a private employer. Generally, a plea of nolo contendere stands upon the same footing as a plea of guilty. MARSHALL v. STATE, 128 Ga.App. 413(1), 197 S.E.2d 161 (1973). Conviction of a crime is accepted as just cause for an employee's discharge as a matter of law. NLRB v. FEDERAL BEARINGS CO., 109 F.2d 945 (2d Cir. 1940). [Emphasis added.]

In the present case, as in JOHNSON, Scott's on-the-job arrest was sufficient to warrant Otis' termination of Scott's employment, as a matter of law.

In S.J. GROVES & SONS v. INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF TEAMSTERS, 581 F.2d 1241 (4th Cir. 1978), an employee got into a heated verbal argument with his co-workers. He went to his truck and returned with an ax handle and used it to twice hit one of his co-workers. The employee's discharge was held to be warranted, as a matter of law, and summary judgment was entered for the employer:

The rationale for allowing employers to discharge employees for fighting is that such violence threatens the employer's legitimate concerns in job safety and in employee discipline and morale. We find that where an employee engaged in a heated dispute with another employee on the job site during working hours and repeatedly struck the other employee with a dangerous weapon, once on the back and a second item while the victim was on the ground, the discharge is fully justified.

In SMITH v. DEPT. OF HEALTH & HUMAN RESOURCES, 408 So.2d 411 (La.App. 1981), an argument occurred which resulted in a kitchen employee chasing a co-worker with a knife. The employee denied having a knife and claimed she was wrongfully discharged. The appellate court affirmed the Civil Service Commission's approval of the discharge, finding that "pursuing a fellow employee while armed with a knife would seem to be a most serious offense," and that the fact that the employee "chose to arm herself with a dangerous weapon" supported her termination.

It is anticipated that Scott will argue that he did not, in fact, assault his co-worker with a gun, despite the fact that he was arrested, charged with a crime and pled nolo contendere. Or at least, he will argue, whether he assaulted the co-worker was a fact question. Whether he did or did not assault his co-worker is irrelevant. As a matter of law, Otis clearly was warranted in believing that Scott was guilty as charged. JOHNSON v. GENERAL MOTORS CORP., supra. Even if Scott had not pled nolo contendere, or even if he had been subsequently found innocent, that would have had no bearing on whether Otis was justified in terminating Scott.

Even an employer's erroneous belief cannot be the basis for a wrongful discharge action where, if true, it would have justified the employer in terminating the employee. <u>See</u> for example, ZUNIGA v. SEARS, ROEBUCK & CO., 671 P.2d 662 (NM. App. 1983), where the court held that an employee had no cause of action for wrongful discharge against an employer who terminated him on the belief, apparently erroneous, that the employee had taken an item of merchandise belonging to the store.

It is also anticipated that Scott will argue that despite the fact that Otis would have been warranted in terminating him as a result of his being arrested on the job, in fact he was terminated for an entirely different

reason, i.e., filing a workers' compensation claim. However, case law provides that where an employer establishes sufficient legitimate grounds for dismissing an employee, the alleged motive of the employer for discharging the employee for other non-legitimate reasons is immaterial. BARISA v. CHARLOTTE RESEARCH FOUNDATION, 287 A. 2d 679 (Del. Sup. 1972); GASBARRA v. PARK-OHIO INS., 382 F. Supp. 399, aff'd. 529 F. 2d 529 (D. C. III. 1974); HEYMAN v. KLINE, 344 F. Supp. 1088, aff'd in part and rev'd. in part, 456 F. 2d 123, cert. den., 93 S. Ct. 53; LANG v. OREGON NURSES ASSOC., 632 P. 2d 472 (Or. App. 1981). In LANG, the court quoted the Oregon Supreme Court case as follows:

...The motives which activate the master in discharging the servant are wholly immaterial, for the act is justified if any legal grounds therefor existed at the time....

Where there are legitimate non-discriminatory reasons for an employee's discharge, the employee has the overall burden of showing a retaliatory discharge, BOHM v. L.B. HARTZ WHOLESALE CORP., 370 N.W.2d 901 (Minn.App. 1985); HUBBARD v. UNITED PRESS, 330 N.W.2d 418, 445 (Minn. 1983), which Scott did not do in this case. Scott admitted that his supervisor told him he was terminating him because of the on-the-job arrest incident (R319, 321). Scott presented no evidence to demonstrate otherwise. Accordingly, Scott did not meet his burden of proving a wrongful discharge.

In CHIN v. AMERICAN TEL. & TEL. CO., 410 NY S.2d 737 (NY Sup. 1978), an employee sued his employer for wrongful discharge. The employer took the position that the employee was terminated because he was arrested and charged with driving a van into three police officers during a political demonstration in which he was a participant. The court granted a summary judgment for the employer, finding that the employee had failed to demonstrate a prima facie case:

Assuming, arguendo, that part of defendant's motivation was malicious, plaintiff has failed to establish that the defendant did not act for legitimate purposes or for business considerations. Thus, he has failed to demonstrate the required elements for prima facie tort.

As in the above cases, it is <u>undisputed</u> that in this case, Otis had a legitimate reason warranting the termination of Scott's employment, i.e., the fact that Scott was arrested and charged with a serious crime which occurred on the job site, i.e., the assault of a co-worker with a deadly weapon. For this reason alone, judgment should have been directed in favor of Otis, as a matter of law.

# Scott failed to prove a prima facie case:

Scott failed to prove the essential element of his cause of action. SOUTHLAND DISTRIBUTING CO. v. VERNAL, 497 So. 2d 1240 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), a discharged employee brought an action against his employer alleging that he was discharged because of jury duty. The appellate court reversed a judgment in the employer's favor. The court concluded that circumstantial evidence of the employee being discharged upon his return from jury duty was insufficient by itself to support a finding that the employee was terminated because of jury duty, where all the other evidence pointed to the fact that the employee was terminated due to a disagreement with his employer that occurred prior to commencement of jury duty. The court relied upon VOELKER v. COMBINED INS. CO. OF AMERICA, 73 So. 2d 403 (Fla. 1954), which held that when circumstantial evidence is relied upon in a civil case, any reasonable inference deducible from that circumstantial evidence which would authorize recovery must outweigh each and every contrary reasonable inference if the plaintiff is to prevail. The court concluded:

> ...the inference that Vernal was terminated because of his jury duty cannot survive as a rational inference in

light of the stronger inferences and other facts established by the evidence.

See also, DeFORD LUMBER CO., INC. v. ROZS, 615 S.W.2d 235 (Tex.Civ.App. 1981), and VOUESWERDIN v. NEW ORLEANS PUBLIC SERVICE, INC., 466 So.2d 804 (La.App. 1985). Both cases held that the circumstantial evidence presented in a wrongful discharge case did not support a finding that the employer discharged the employee for asserting a claim for workers' compensation benefits.

# Scott also failed to prove that Otis' reason for his discharge was pretextual:

If an employee meets the burden of establishing a <u>prima facie</u> case of wrongful termination, the burden of going forward with the evidence to demonstrate a legitimate reason for the discharge shifts to the employer. Once the employer demonstrates a legitimate reason for the discharge, it is incumbent upon the employee to then prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the employer's reasons for the discharge are a pretext for what was otherwise an unlawful discharge. The ultimate burden of proving wrongful termination remains with the employee.

The elements of a <u>prima facie</u> case, and the allocation of proof thereof, are contained in McDONNELL DOUGLAS CORP. v. GREEN, 411 U.S. 792, 802-07 (1973), 93 S.Ct. 1981, 1024-26, 36 L.Ed.2d 668, and have been applied to wrongful discharge cases. PUGH v. SUE'S CANDIES, INC., 171 Cal.Rptr. 917, 116 CA 3d 311 (Cal.App. 1981). A recent Florida case adopting the McDONNELL DOUGLAS standard in another type of discrimination case is ANDERSON v. LYKES PASCO PACKING CO., 503 So.2d 1269 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). In that case, the Second District affirmed a directed verdict against two employees because "the evidence fell short of inferring that age

more <u>likely</u> played a part in their discharge and that the [employer's] proffered explanation was pretextual. The court stated:

Once a prima facie case is made, the burden shifts to the employer to demonstrate legitimate, nondiscriminating reasons for the discharge. If this is done, the presumption dissipates and in order to succeed the plaintiff must either prove that a discriminating reason more likely motivated the employer or that the employer's proffered explanation is pretextual.

In MITCHELL v. ST. LOUIS COUNTY, 575 S.W.2d 813 (Mo.App. 1978), the trial court granted a directed verdict against the employee in her wrongful discharge case for failure to show that the employer's reason for discharging her was pretextual:

Plaintiff rests her case on the fact that she was discharged several months after filing a claim for compensation. But the record amply supports the basis for her discharge was excessive absenteeism - a valid and not pretextual motive.

Also, in SWANSON v. AMERICAN MANUFACTURING CO., 511 **s.**W. 2d 561 (Tex.Civ.App. 1974), a suit charging discrimination by reason of a workers' compensation claim was dismissed, as the record established that there was a legitimate reason for the discharge.

As in the above cases, even assuming Scott provided a <u>prima facie</u> case of wrongful discharge, Otis demonstrated without question a legitimate reason for discharging him. At that point, Scott was required to prove that the more likely reason for his termination was the fear that he would file a workers' compensation claim or that Otis' reason for his discharge was pretextual. Scott proved neither.

## POINT VI

#### (RAISED BY THE EMPLOYER)

# OTIS WAS ENTITLED TO A JUDGMENT IN ITS FAVOR ON THE \$100,000 AWARD FOR PAST LOST WAGES.

Scott was not entitled to an award of past lost wages, as a matter of law, for the same reason he was not entitled to an award of future lost wages. Any diminution in income, past or future, did not result from Scott's alleged wrongful discharge resulting in his inability to find a comparable paying job. Rather, the cause of Scott's reduced income was his knee injury which resulted in a disability preventing him from performing the duties of an elevator mechanic/foreman. Scott's remedy for loss of wage earning capacity was a workers' compensation claim, not a wrongful discharge claim. Scott was, in fact, receiving workers' compensation benefits to compensate him for that loss (R9).

As indicated under Point III, <u>supra</u>, the Fourth District correctly ruled that Scott was not entitled to receive future lost wages because his alleged wrongful discharge did not cause his lost wages, his knee injury did. That rationale was equally applicable to Scott's claim for past lost wages. However, the Fourth District ruled that it could not consider Otis' argument as to this element of damages because Otis had not moved for a directed verdict on Scott's claim for <u>past</u> lost wages in the trial court (A7). The Fourth District was wrong for two reasons.

First, this issue could be raised for the first time on appeal since it constitutes fundamental error. Case law holds that where a verdict is not permissible under the law, a judgment based thereon constitutes fundamental error. Where a jury is allowed to award an element of compensatory damages not authorized by law, the error goes to the very merits of the cause of action and, therefore, is fundamental error because it constitutes taking of

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